

EPA 542-R-02-012 January 2003 www.epa.gov/tio www.clu-in.org www.nato.int/ccms

# **NATO/CCMS Pilot Study**

Evaluation of Demonstrated and Emerging Technologies for the Treatment and Clean Up of Contaminated Land and Groundwater (Phase III)

2002 OVERVIEW REPORT

Number 259

NORTH ATLANTIC TREATY ORGANIZATION

ին հեն հենաարարար առանարար արգառատության հայարարարարարարարարարարարարարարարարարարա

# 2002 Overview Report NATO/CCMS Pilot Study

Evaluation of Demonstrated and Emerging Technologies for the Treatment of Contaminated Land and Groundwater (Phase III)

> Rome, Italy May 5-10, 2002

January 2003

#### NOTICE

This Overview Report was prepared under the auspices of the North Atlantic Treaty Organization's Committee on the Challenges of Modern Society (NATO/CCMS) as a service to the technical community by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA). The report was produced by Environmental Management Support, Inc., of Silver Spring, Maryland, under U.S. EPA contract 68-W-00-084. Mention of trade names or specific applications does not imply endorsement or acceptance by U.S. EPA.

# CONTENTS

Int	roduction	1
1.	Backgound and Purpose	2
	Relationship with Other CCMS Programs	2
	The CCMS Fellowship Program     CCMS Study Visit Program	
3.	Accomplishments	3
4.	Technical Overview	4
	4.1 Introduction	
	4.2 Development Status	5
	4.3 In Situ and Ex Situ Technologies	5
	4.4 Technology Types	5
	4.5 Contaminants Treated	5
5.	Special Seminars	6
٠.		
6.	Follow-On Pilot Study	6
7.	Conclusions	6
	7.1 Non-Technical Conclusions.	
	7.2 Technical Conclusions	
8.	Recommendations	7
9.	References	8
10	. Country Representatives	11
11	. Attendees List	14

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK

#### INTRODUCTION

This report provides an overview of the Phase III Pilot Study on the Evaluation of Demonstrated and Emerging Technologies for Treatment and Clean Up of Contaminated Land and Groundwater. It also contains the key conclusions of the Pilot Study and recommendations for further action. Detailed information on the pilot study can be found in the annual reports located on the NATO/CCMS web site.

The Phase III Pilot Study was proposed to NATO by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) at the Committee on the Challenges of Modern Society's (CCMS) plenary session in 1997. Member countries voted on and accepted the proposal at the same meeting. Participating countries were:

- NATO: Belgium, Canada, Czech Republic, Denmark, France, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Italy, Norway, Portugal, Netherlands, Spain, Turkey, United Kingdom, United States.
- EPAC: Armenia, Austria, Finland, Latvia, Lithuania, Romania, Slovenia, Sweden, and Switzerland.
- Others: Australia, Japan.

The study was conducted under the joint leadership of the United States, the Federal Republic of Germany, and the Netherlands. It was co-chaired by Mr. Stephen James and Dr. Walter Kovalick, Jr., of U.S. EPA. Dr. Deniz Beten, Director of CCMS Programs, provided liaison with the NATO/CCMS secretariat. Additional information on CCMS and the Pilot Studies may be obtained from the Country Representatives listed at the end of this document.

The Pilot Study Group held a total of five meetings during the course of the study. During these meetings, countries submitted candidate projects that were discussed and voted on for inclusion in the study based on criteria agreed upon by the participating countries. In-depth interim and final report presentations on the implementation and results of these projects were made during the international meetings and summarized in meeting proceedings.

Each project was planned and executed by the responsible organization, with project funding from the various government and non-government organizations involved. The costs of participating in international meetings and preparing project reports were generally met by these organizations concerned, which in many cases were private companies.

Each international conference included host country presentations and a *tour de table*, during which member countries discussed developments in national legislation, regulations, and research and development programs. In addition, recognized experts in diverse technical fields gave invited papers related to the challenges of soil and groundwater remediation, and CCMS Fellows provided presentations and written reports on their work. These reports from Fellows were published as part of the proceedings of the international meetings.

In addition, the Pilot Study hosted a special seminar at each meeting on a technical topic chosen by consensus of the countries. Each seminar was an in-depth treatment of a newly emerging subject related to remediation with presentations by experts from industry, government, and academia. The seminars lasted one and one-half days each and, after the first year, were co-chaired by a North American and European expert. A report of the proceedings was published for each special seminar.

The Pilot Study chose to publish two documents and one CD each year to enhance the real-time nature of information transfer. The Annual Report summarized the results of interim and final project presentation reports and the *tour de table* presentation by each country. The second document was the proceedings of the special seminar. A CD was also published annually with all other meeting presentations from each year (including the Fellows) and all reports from the preceding year(s). Multiple copies of all of these documents and CD's were distributed to country representatives and NATO headquarters to insure the

widest possible distribution of the results of the Pilot Study. A final CD will be produced that documents all pilot study reporting. These reports will also be available on the NATO/CCMS web site.

The various Pilot Study activities resulted in extensive transfer of study findings to potential users of new remediation technologies and to a wider technical and administrative audience. They also increased the exchange of ideas on technology needs and fostered greater contact between experts and decision-makers within both member and nonmember countries.

#### 1. BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE

The problem of land and groundwater contamination from improper handling and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes is faced by all countries. Many countries have committed resources to developing advanced, innovative remediation technologies and to evaluating them under field conditions. The ongoing challenge is how to maximize the value of these technology demonstrations and effectively transfer the technologies both within and between countries. In addition, there has been an increasing recognition of the need for approaches not dependent on advanced technologies and for technologies that can be cost-effectively employed in the socioeconomic circumstances of Eastern and Central Europe and developing countries, especially Central Asia.

The purpose of this NATO/CCMS pilot study was to identify, discuss, and review innovative, emerging, and alternative technologies, and to transfer technical performance and economic information to potential users of these technologies. A specific objective of the study was to identify "lessons learned" from the technology demonstrations—both the successes and those that illustrated technology failures or limitations. The latter type of information is rarely presented in conferences or discussed in the technical literature, but is very important for making informed decisions involving critical time and monetary requirements. It is also useful for defining priorities in research and development programs.

#### 2. RELATIONSHIP WITH OTHER CCMS PROGRAMS

# 2.1 The CCMS Fellowship Program

The CCMS Fellowship Program made an important contribution to the success of the Phase III Pilot Study, as it did to the two earlier Pilot Studies on the remediation of contaminated soil and groundwater. It facilitated participation of several experts, including experts from countries that would otherwise not have had a presence in the Pilot Study. The participation of these experts enabled a wider range of topics to be covered.

Twelve NATO Fellowships were awarded under this Pilot Study. All of the Fellows attended one or more meetings of the Pilot Study Group and played an active part in the discussions.

The Fellows came from private, university, and governmental organizations. The following countries were represented by fellows: Belgium, the Federal Republic of Germany, Greece, the Netherlands, Portugal, Spain, Turkey, and the United States. Their activities covered a range of topics related to the Pilot Study, including an examination of the national approach to such problems as legal issues, costs and economics, innovative approaches to large-scale remediation projects, and assessment of the performance of treatment methods via modeling.

#### 2.2 CCMS Study Visit Program

Participation by a number of individuals, including expert speakers, was made possible by the provision of travel funds through the CCMS Study Visit Program.

#### 3. ACCOMPLISHMENTS

The Pilot Study Group examined 33 different remediation technology projects from 12 countries during the five-year program. The projects encompassed *in situ* and *ex situ* biological, physical-chemical, and thermal treatment technologies. Many of the projects involved two or more technologies, either in integrated treatment systems or in parallel treatment. The reports on these projects revealed an ongoing evolution of innovative and advanced technologies. The Pilot Study is believed to have been instrumental in facilitating this development.

Nonmember countries, including members of the Euro-Atlantic Partnership Council (EPAC) and Japan took increasing interest in and participated in the Phase III Pilot Study.

The Pilot Study was designed to provide participants with a broader view of the remediation technology development and deployment strategies of other countries to help them focus their own approaches. Technology transfer from the Pilot Study was promoted by distribution of meeting reports and CD's by the country representatives in their countries, involving members in conferences and symposia, and publishing papers in professional journals. Some examples of these activities include the following:

- Annual Reports of the Pilot Study meetings, Special Seminar reports, and CD's containing all
  documents on a cumulative basis were provided annually to country representatives (nominated by
  their respective countries for participation in the meetings) to duplicate and distribute within their
  countries, as needed.
- The German Federal Ministry of Environment, Nature Protection, and Reactor Safety (Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Reaktorsicherheit-BMU) commissioned one CCMS Fellow to prepare a report of the meeting held in 2000 in Wiesbaden and a review of research needs. This report was circulated to national country representatives in Germany.
- During the Pilot Study meetings, participants visited waste treatment and disposal facilities, ongoing site cleanup, and research institutions. These activities stimulated the participation of private companies in the Pilot Study and enlarged the network of international experts and increased their interactions.
- The Pilot Study Director and Co-Directors developed and provided annual meeting reports and special session reports to NATO/CCMS for distribution to member and other countries.
- The Co-Directors and other members of the Pilot Study presented invited papers and special sessions at national and international technology conferences and symposia including: the 4<sup>th</sup> International Symposiums on Environmental Contamination in Central and Eastern Europe (Warsaw - 1998) and the International Conference on Contaminated Soil (ConSoil) held in Edinburgh in 1998 and Leipzig in 2000.

Close liaison was maintained throughout the study with other international groups dealing with the problems of contaminated land including:

- The CCMS Pilot Study on the Environmental Aspects of Reusing Military Lands at its meetings in Warsaw and Tallinn (1998) and the CCMS/EPAC Workshop on Miliary Activities and the Environment in Warsaw (1998);
- NICOLE (the Network for Industrially Contaminated Land in Europe), an industry supported consortium interested in contaminated land research and remediation issues;
- The German-United States Bilateral Working Group on Sustainable Land Management, which is a
  joint R & D effort of the German Federal Ministry for Education and Research (Bundesministerium

fur Bildung und Forschung-BMBF) and the U.S. EPA. The working group focuses on joint performance testing of technologies and joint development of strategies and tools for site redevelopment

Presentations and informal discussions at Pilot Study meetings by representatives of:

- CLARINET (the European Union's Contaminated Land Rehabilitation Network for Environmental Technologies in Europe)
- United Nations Economic Commission for Europe, Chemical Industry Program dealing with remediation issues
- EU Research Directorate
- UNIDO, International Centre for Science and High Technology (ICS)

Finally, the Pilot Study was instrumental in facilitating discussions and networking that contributed to the creation of the following international and national forums:

- The "Ad hoc International Working Group" on Contaminated Land, which grew out of discussions
  among country representatives attending the NATO/CCMS meetings. The Working Group exists to
  provide a forum—open to any country—in which the issues and problems of contaminated land and
  groundwater can be discussed at a national level and information can be freely exchanged to the
  benefit of all participants;
- The Common Forum on Contaminated Land in the European Union, RUBIN (Reactive Wall and Barrier Projects Cooperating in a Network) sponsored by the German Federal Ministry for Education and Research (Bundesministerium fur Bildung und Forschung-BMBF)
- The newly created EU-project, European Sustainable Land and Groundwater Management Information System (EUGRIS), which will begin in 2002.

#### 4. TECHNICAL OVERVIEW

# 4.1 Introduction

There were 33 active projects in the Pilot Study. Summary information on each project is provided in the Annual Reports. The project summaries provide a technical abstract, which summarizes the project's progress and results, but is not a critical review of the project. The summaries also provide the name of a technical contact for further information.

While the objective of the Pilot Study was to evaluate applications of particular technologies, many of the projects involved more than one technology. Some involved the use of integrated treatment systems combining more than one technology, and others involved the application of more than one technology to deal with separate aspects of site contamination. Some projects involved monitoring technologies. One of the special sessions also addressed monitoring approaches and technologies.

Because the projects are classified below in a variety of ways, they may be counted two or three times, and not all projects may be included in each analysis. Furthermore, the categorization of projects is a matter of judgment, and alternative categorizations may be possible. The projects are classified as follows:

- By the development status (laboratory, field, actual cleanup);
- Whether they are in situ or ex situ technologies, or a combination of both;
- By the type used (biological, chemical, physical);
- By the contaminants treated (VOCs, PAHs, etc.); and
- By media: soil or groundwater.

#### 4.2 Development Status

All of the 33 projects were technology-based. The Pilot Study accepted technical projects in two areas of development: "emerging" and "demonstration." For the purposes of the Pilot Study, an emerging technology is defined as bench-scale, while a demonstrated technology is one implemented at field- or full-scale. Demonstrated technologies are usually at or near to commercial application. Eight of the projects were emerging technologies.

# 4.3 In Situ and Ex Situ Technologies

There were 19 projects using in situ technologies. The remaining were ex-situ or monitoring technologies.

# 4.4 Technology Types

For the purposes of the Pilot Study, the technologies described in each technical project were broadly classified as one of five types: biological, chemical, physical-chemical, stabilization/solidification, or thermal.

The classification of projects was as follows (some projects were counted twice):

Technology Type	Number of Projects	Examples of Technologies
Biological	17	monitored natural attenuation, bio-reactors, phyto- remediation, composting, white rot fungi
Physical-Chemical	17	reactive barriers, soil washing, solvent extraction, surfactant removal
Chemical	2	chemical oxidation, pyrolysis/oxidation
Thermal	3	thermal desorption, in-situ thermal
Stabilization/Solidification	3	chemical fixation
Other	2	monitoring, excavation

#### 4.5 Contaminants Treated

The projects were concerned with the treatment of the following contaminants polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, polychlorinated biphenyls, and BTEX compounds (benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, and xylenes), heavy metals (such as mercury lead, cadmium, zinc), petroleum hydrocarbons, pesticides, cyanides, coal tars, tanning wastes, TNT, and organic solvents.

#### 5. SPECIAL SEMINARS

As discussed above, the Pilot Study hosted a special technical seminar at each annual meeting. The subjects for each special seminar and the name and countries of each of the co-chairpersons are listed below:

1998	Treatment Walls and Permeable Reactive Barriers	Harald Burmeier	Germany
1999	Monitored Natural Attenuation	Fran Kremer Anja Sinke	United States Netherlands
2000	Decision Support Tools	Paul Bardos Terry Sullivan	United Kingdom United States
2001	Performance Verification of In Situ Remediation Technologies	Robert Siegrist Bert Satijn	United States Netherlands
2002	Cost-Effective Tools for Site Characterization and Long-Term Monitoring	Eric Koglin Georg Teutsch	United States Germany

# 6. FOLLOW-ON PILOT STUDY

The country representatives and other participants in the Pilot Study agreed on the merit of a follow-on Pilot Study—both for those countries having established programs to address contaminated land and for those who have more recently begun to address contamination problems, such as countries in Central and Eastern Europe. Recognizing the broader issues of both preventing and remediating contaminated soil and groundwater, the country representatives also wanted to focus the policy and technical information on specific industrial sectors, rather than on technologies for remediation only. This would allow the results of the future Pilot Study to be of direct assistance to countries with affected industrial sectors.

Thus, a new CCMS Pilot Study entitled Prevention and Remediation Issues in Selected Industrial Sectors is proposed. The purpose of the proposed pilot study would be to define and explore best practices for reducing the health and environmental impact on soil and groundwater from industrial sectors of interest (e.g., metals mining, organic chemical production, gasworks, and fertilizer manufacturing) as well as other unique site "types" (e.g., old landfills, privatization sites [i.e., facilities transitioning from former state ownership in certain categories], mega sites [i.e., large scale former industrial and mining facilities], and shoreline sediment sites). In reviewing case studies as well as experience from the current pilot study on contaminated land and other sources, the proposed pilot study may be able to assess or benchmark "what is easy to clean," "what is difficult to clean," and "what is impossible, at reasonable cost, to clean."

#### 7. CONCLUSIONS

This Phase III Pilot Study again demonstrated the benefits of exchanging technical and economic information on contaminated land and groundwater remediation technologies. The conclusions are based on the deliberations of the Pilot Study Group, case studies, expert speaker presentations, and special studies carried out by Fellows of the Pilot Study. The conclusions are of two types and are listed below:

- non-technical and technical conclusions related to remediation-

#### 7.1 Non-Technical Conclusions

1. Countries are recognizing soil as a resource and an important part of the living environment.

- 2. Soil protection is being recognized as an important policy area because of the high cost of clean up after contamination.
- 3. Clean up approaches driven by acceptable residual risk are becoming much more common than uniform, country-wide or region-wide strategies.
- 4. Policy flexibility by regulators creates the best opportunities for innovative solutions to soil and groundwater contamination problems.
- 5. The Pilot Study served as an incubator for several important new soil contamination organizations and networks (principally European) as well as an important new network for many NATO Partner countries.

#### 7.2 Technical Conclusions

- 1. Remediation strategies in a number of countries are moving from technology focused treatment processes to increasing use of land use management and diverse approaches such as natural attenuation.
- 2. Approaches like phytoremediation or monitored natural attenuation may frequently require longer periods of time to clean up sites. Therefore, future remedial activities need to balance the time factor with other site clean up needs.
- 3. These longer time frames highlight new needs for extended project management, long-term monitoring, documentation, and financing for such long-term projects.
- 4. Public outreach for long-term clean up actions poses special challenges in risk communication and the ability to engage stakeholders over long periods of time.
- 5. Technical approaches for clean up are focusing more on in-situ, area-wide approaches vs. ex-situ, site specific approaches.
- 6. Integrated treatment systems are still necessary in order to provide lower cost and more effective site remediation solutions for complex sites.
- 7. Site clean up management strategies are moving from stepwise thinking (i.e., characterize, remediate, monitor) to more integrated approaches involving systematic planning and monitoring throughout the clean up.
- 8. Independent evaluation and verification of technologies and approaches and uniform data collection approaches are being developed and are a valuable resource for increasing acceptance of new technologies and approaches.
- 9. Remediation costs have been significantly reduced due to a better understanding of the problem and technological improvements; however, further application experience should help in lowering costs further.

#### 8. RECOMMENDATIONS

1) The CCMS is invited by the Pilot Study Directors to commend this Phase III Pilot Study Summary Report to the NATO Council for approval.

All the participants in this phase of the study are commended for their professionalism, technical expertise, and cooperation. The Pilot Study Directors particularly thank the two co-pilot countries, Germany and The Netherlands, for their assistance. The CCMS Fellows are complimented on their

technical quality and personal input to the Pilot Study. The Special Seminars were a major success in stimulating discussion between participants, and the Directors thank those that chaired these sessions. Over and above the technical successes of the Pilot Study, camaraderie was established between participants leading to extensive exchanges of information outside of the Pilot Study. The progress of the Study was reported via annual meeting reports and special session reports. These reports were distributed via printed copies, CDs, and through Internet availability. Reports were distributed by NATO/CCMS, participating countries and at conferences in North America and Europe. Consequently, the CCMS is invited to commend the Summary Report to member governments and to the governments of the EPAC and other countries drawing their attention to the technical information, conclusions, and recommendations it contains.

2) The CCMS is requested to encourage participation of NATO and non-NATO countries in a proposed follow on Pilot Study – Prevention and Remediation Issues in Selected Industrial Sectors.

The participation of EPAC and other non-NATO countries has been a feature of the Phase III Pilot Study with mutual benefit to all involved. The Pilot Study co-pilot countries will continue to elicit formal participation in the follow on Pilot Study by additional countries known to have contaminated land and groundwater programs.

CCMS is requested to draw the attention of member countries to the way in which formal participation can open doors for researchers, regulators, and others from within and outside government to high quality technology and information exchange activities and to an extensive network of professional contacts. The CCMS is asked to encourage member countries to adopt formal observer status, even if the countries wish to have only minimal active participation at an official level.

3) The follow on Pilot Study should maintain liaison with related international activities on industrial sectors and contaminated land.

The benefits to all participants have been enhanced by the parallel activities in policy-oriented and technical areas. Opportunities for joint meetings and information sharing should be explored to expand the network for sharing results on prevention and remediation for industrial sectors.

4) The follow on Pilot Study should continue the practice of publishing results annually and utilizing other electronic media for rapid information dissemination.

The remediation of contaminated soil and groundwater is a rapidly evolving field, so that there is a risk that much of the information provided during the Pilot Study will be out of date rapidly. Continuing the current practice of annual reports of meetings with CD's that contain all reports cumulatively are a very effective way to make printed copies widely available. This approach coupled with Internet availability of reports is a very effective way to conduct outreach regarding future project results. The follow on Pilot Study should also continue the practice of seeking venues at international conferences to summarize and update Study findings.

#### 9. REFERENCES

- 1. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, NATO/CCMS Pilot Study: Evaluation of Demonstrated and Emerging Technologies for Treatment and Clean-up of Contaminated Land and Groundwater (Phase III): Annual Report, 1998, EPA/542/R-98-002.
- 2. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, NATO/CCMS Pilot Study: Evaluation of Demonstrated and Emerging Technologies for Treatment and Clean-up of Contaminated Land and Groundwater (Phase III): Special Session Treatment Walls and Permeable reactive Barriers, 1998, EPA/542/R-98-003.

- 3. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, NATO/CCMS Pilot Study: Evaluation of Demonstrated and Emerging Technologies for Treatment and Clean-up of Contaminated Land and Groundwater (Phase III): Annual Report, 1999, EPA/542/R-99-007.
- 4. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, NATO/CCMS Pilot Study: Evaluation of Demonstrated and Emerging Technologies for Treatment and Clean-up of Contaminated Land and Groundwater (Phase III): Special Session Monitored Natural Attenuation, 1999, EPA/542/R-99-008.
- 5. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, NATO/CCMS Pilot Study: Evaluation of Demonstrated and Emerging Technologies for Treatment and Clean-up of Contaminated Land and Groundwater (Phase III): Annual Report, 2000, EPA/542/R-0-/001.
- 6. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, NATO/CCMS Pilot Study: Evaluation of Demonstrated and Emerging Technologies for Treatment and Clean-up of Contaminated Land and Groundwater (Phase III): Special session Decision Support Tools, 2000, EPA/542/R-01-002.
- 7. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, NATO/CCMS Pilot Study: Evaluation of Demonstrated and Emerging Technologies for Treatment and Clean-up of Contaminated Land and Groundwater (Phase III): Annual Report, 2001, EPA/542/R-02-001.
- 8. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, NATO/CCMS Pilot Study: Evaluation of Demonstrated and Emerging Technologies for Treatment and Clean-up of Contaminated Land and Groundwater (Phase III): Special Session Performance Verification of In Situ Remediation Technologies, 2001, EPA/542/R-02-002.
- 9. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, NATO/CCMS Pilot Study: Evaluation of Demonstrated and Emerging Technologies for Treatment and Clean-up of Contaminated Land and Groundwater (Phase III): Annual Report, 2002, EPA/542/R-02-010.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, NATO/CCMS Pilot Study: Evaluation of Demonstrated and Emerging Technologies for Treatment and Clean-up of Contaminated Land and Groundwater (Phase III): Special Session - Cost Effective Tools for Site Characterization and Long-Term Monitoring, 2002, EPA

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK

\* .42 ;

#### NATIONAL CONTACTS

#### **Directors**

Stephen C. James (Co-Director)

National Risk Management Research Laboratory

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

26 Martin Luther King Dr.

Cincinnati, OH 45268

United States

tel: 513-569-7877 fax: 513-569-7680

Volker Franzius

Bismarckplatz 1

D-14193 Berlin

Germany

Umweltbundesamt

tel: 49/30-8903-2496

e-mail: james.steve@epa.gov

Walter W. Kovalick, Jr. (Co-Director)

**Technology Innovation Office** 

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 1200 Pennsylvania Ave, NW (5102G)

Washington, DC 20460

**United States** 

tel: 703-603-9910 fax: 703-603-9135

e-mail: kovalick.walter@epa.gov

### Co-Pilot Directors

H. Johan van Veen

TNO/MEP

P.O. Box 342

7800 AN Apeldoorn

The Netherlands

tel: 31/555-49-3922

fax: 31/555-49-3921

e-mail: h.j.vanveen@mep.tno.nl

# **Country Representatives**

Anahit Aleksandryan

Ministry of Nature Protection

fax: 49/30-8903-2285 or -2103

e-mail: volker.franzius@uba.de

35, Moskovyan Strasse

375002 Yerevan

Armenia

tel: +37/42-538-838

fax: +37/42-151-938

e-mail: goga@arminco.com

Harald Kasamas

Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry,

Environment

and Water Management (BMLFUW)

Division VI/3 - Contaminated Sites Programme

Stubenbastei 5

A-1010 Vienna

Austria

tel: +43-1-51522-3449

fax: +43-1-51522-7432

e-mail: harald.kasamas@bmlfuw.gv.at

Jacqueline Miller Brussels University Avenue Jeanne 44

1050 Brussels

**Belgium** 

tel: 32/2-650-3183

fax: 32/2-650-3189

e-mail: jmiller@ulb.ac.be

Lisa Keller

**Environmental Technology Advancement** 

Directorate

Environment Canda - EPS

12th Floor, Place Vincent Massey

Hull, Quebec K1A 0H3

Canada

tel: 819-953-9370

fax: 819-953-0509

e-mail: Lisa.Keller@ec.gc.ca

Jan Krhovsky

Ministry of the Environment

Department of Environmental Damages

Vrsovická 65 100 10 Prague

Czech Republic

tel: +420/2-6712-2729 fax: +420/2-6731-0305 e-mail: krhov@env.cz

Ari Seppänen

Ministry of Environment Ministry of Environment

P.O. Box 35

00093 Government

Finland

tel: 358/9-160-397-15 fax: 358/9-160-397-16

e-mail: Ari.Seppanen@ymparisto.fi

Christian Militon

**Environmental Impact and Contaminated Sites** 

Department

French Agency for Environment and Energy

Management (ADEME) 2, square La Fayette

BP 406

49004 ANGERS cedex 01

France

tel: (33)-2-41-91-40-51 fax: (33)-2-41-91-40-03

e-mail: christian.militon@ademe.fr

Andreas Bieber

Federal Ministry for the Environment

Bernkasteler Str. 8

53175 Bonn Germany

tel: +49/01888-305-3431 fax: +49/018888-305-2396 e-mail: bieber.andreas@bmu.de

**Anthimos Xenidis** 

National Technical University Athens

52 Themidos Street 15124 Athens

Greece

tel: 30/1-0772-2043 fax: 30/1-0772-2168

e-mail: axen@central.ntua.gr

Francesca Quercia

ANPA - Agenzia Nazionale per la Protezione

dell'Ambiente . Via V. Brancati 48 I - 00144 Rome

Italy

tel. 39/6-5007-2510 fax 39/6-5007-2531

e-mail: quercia@anpa.it

Masaaki Hosomi

Tokyo University of Agriculture and

Technology

2-24-16 Nakamachi, Koganei

Tokyo 184

Japan

tel: +81-423-887-070 fax: +81-423-814-201

e-mail: hosomi@cc.tuat.ac.jp

**Ilgonis Strauss** 

Ministry of Environmental Protection and

Regional Development

Peldu Str. 25 Riga, LV-1494

Latvia

tel: +371/7-026-405 fax: +371/7-026-558

e-mail: strauss@varam.gov.lv

Keštutis Kadunas

Hydrogeological Division, Geological Survey

Konarskio 35 2600 Vilnius Lithuania

tel 370/2-236-272 fax: 370/2-336-156

e-mail: kestutis.kadunas@lgt.lt

Biørn Biørnstad

Norwegian Pollution Control Authority

P.O. Box 8100 Dep

N-0032 Oslo

Norway

tel: 47/22-257-3664 fax: 47/22-267-6706

e-mail: bjorn.bjornstad@sft.telemax.no

Marco Antonio Medina Estrela ISQ - Instituto de Soldadura e Qualidade Centro de Tecnologias Ambientais Tagus Park EN 249-Km 3, Cabanas- Leiao (Tagus Park) Apartado 119 2781 Oeiras – Codex

**Portugal** tel: +351/1-422-8100 fax: +351/1-422-8129

e-mail: maestrela@isq.pt

Ioan Gherhes Mayor's Office Municipality of Baia Mare 37, Gh. Sincai Street 4800 Baia Mare Romania

tel: 40/94-206-500 fax: 40/62-212-961

e-mail: igherhes@baiamarecity.ro

Branko Druzina Institute of Public Health Trubarjeva 2-Post Box 260 6100 Ljubljana Slovenia

tel: 386/1-244-1486 fax: 386/1-244-1447

e-mail: branko.druzina@ivz-rs.si

Bernard Hammer BUWAL Federal Department of the Interior 3003 Bern Switzerland

tel: 41/31-322-9307 fax: 41/31-382-1546

e-mail: bernard.hammer@buwal.admin.ch

Kahraman Ünlü Department of Environmental Engineering Middle East Technical University Inönü Bulvari 06531 Ankara Turkey

tel: 90-312-210-5869 fax: 90-312-210-1260 e-mail: kunlu@metu.edu.tr Theresa Kearney
Environment Agency
National Groundwater and Contaminated Land
Centre
Olton Court 10 Warwick Road, Olton
Solihul, West Midlands B92 7HX
United Kingdom

tel: +44/121-711-2324 fax: +44/121-711-5925

e-mail: theresa.kearney@environment-

agency.gov.uk

#### ATTENDEES LIST

Anahit Aleksandryan (c.r.)

Ministry of Nature Protection

35 Moskovyan str. 375002 Yerevan

Republic of Armenia

tel: 37/42-538-838 fax: 37/42151-938

e-mail: goga@arminico.com

Meri Barbafieri

Institute for Ecosystem Study

Unit for Soil Chemistry

CNR

Via Moruzzi 1

56124 Pisa

Italy

tel: 39/050-31524-87

fax: 39/050-31524-73 e-mail: barbafieri@ict.pi.cnr.it

Paul M. Beam

U.S. Department of Energy 19901 Germantown Road

Germantown, MD 20874-1290

**United States** 

tel: 301-903-8133

fax: 301-903-4307

e-mail: paul.beam@em.doe.gov

Andreas Bieber (c.r.)

Federal Ministry for the Environment

Bernkasteler Str. 8

53175 Bonn Germany

tel: 49/228-305-305-3431 fax: 49/228-305-305-2396

e-mail: bieber.andreas@bmu.de

**Harald Burmeier** 

Fachhochschule North-East Lower Saxony

Department of Civil Engineering

Herbert Meyer Strasse 7

29556 Suderburg

Germany

tel: 49/5103-2000

fax: 49/5103-7863

e-mail: h.burmeier@t-online.de

Claudio Carlon

University of Venice Cà Foscari

Department of Environmental Sciences

Calle Larga Santa Marta 2137

30123 Venice

Italy

tel: 39/041-234-8564

fax: 39/041-234-8548

e-mail: carlon@unive.it

Cliff Casey

Southern Division Naval Facilities Engineering

Command

PO Box 190010

North Charleston, SC 29419-9010

**USA** 

tel: 843-820-5561

fax: 843-820-7465

e-mail: caseycc@efdsouth.navfac.navy.mil

Maria da Conceição Cunha

**ISEC** 

Quinta da Nora

3030 Coimbra

Portugal

tel: +351 239722694

e-mail: mccunha@isec.pt

**Andreas Dahmke** 

Institute of Geosciences, Department Applied

Geology

Christian-Albrechts-Universität zu Kiel

Olshausenstraße 40

24098 Kiel

Germany

tel: +49/4318802858

fax: +49/4318807606

e-mail: ad@gpi.uni-kiel.de

Branko Druzina (c.r.)

Institute of Public Health

Trubarjeva 2-Post Box 260

6100 Ljubljana

Slovenia

tel: 386/1-432-3245

5--- 206/1 020 205/

fax: 386/1-232-3955

e-mail: branko.druzina@ivz-rs.si

Vítor Ap. Martins dos Santos

German Research Centre for Biotechnology

Mascheroder Weg 1 D-38124 Braunschweig

Germany

tel: +49/531-6181-422 fax: +49/531-6181-411 e-mail: vds@gbf.de

Wayne Einfeld

Sandia National Laboratories

P.O. Box 5800 Department 6612

Albuquerque, NM 87185-0755

United States

tel: 505-845-8314 fax: 505-844-0968

email: weinfel@sandia.gov

Marco Antonio Medina Estrela

ISQ – Instituto de Solidadura E Qualidade EN 249 – Km 3, Cabanas – Leiao (Tagus Park)

Apartado 119

2781 Oeiras - Codex

Portugal

tel: +351/1-422-8100 fax: +351/1-422-8129 e-mail: maestrela@isq.pt

**Volker Franzius** 

Umweltbundesamt Bismarckplatz 1

D-14193 Berlin

Germany

tel: 49/30-8903-2496

fax: 49/30-8903-2285 or -2103 e-mail: volker.franzius@uba.de

**Wouter Gevaerts** 

Gedas Milieu

Clara Snellingstraat 27

2100 Deurne

Belgium

tel: 32/3/360 8300 fax: 32/3/360 8301 e-mail: info@gedas.be Ioan Gherhes (c.r.)

Mayor's Office

Municipality of Baia Mare 37, Gh. Sincai Street

4800 Baia Mare

Romania

tel: 40/94-206-500 fax: 40/62-212-961

e-mail: igherhes@baiamarecity.ro

Bernhard Hammer (c.r.)

**BUWAL** 

Federal Department of the Interior

3003 Bern

Switzerland

tel: 41/31-322-9307 fax: 41/31-382-1546

e-mail: bernard.hammer@buwal.admin.ch

**Alwyn Hart** 

Environment Agency

National Groundwater and Contaminated Land

Centre

**Olton Court** 

10 Warwick Road

Olton

Solihull B92 7HX

United Kingdom

tel: 44/121 711 5879

fax: 44/121 711 5925

e-mail: alwyn.hart@environment-agency.co.uk

Henri Halen

SPAQuE (Public Society for the Quality of

Environment) - Wallonia

Boulevard d'Avroy, 38/6

4000 Liège

Belgium

tel: 32/4-220.94.82

fax: 32/4-221.40.43

e-mail: h.halen@spaque.be

Pablo Higueras (c.r.)

University of Castilla-La Mancha

Almaden School of Mines

Plaza Manuel Meca, 1

13400 Almadén (Ciudad Real)

Spain

tel: +34 926441898 (work in Puertollano)

fax: +34 926421984

e-mail: phigueras@igem-al.uclm.es

Masaaki Hosomi (c.r.)

Tokyo University of Agriculture and

Technology

2-24-16 Nakamachi, Koganei

Tokyo 184

Japan tel: 81/3-423-887-070

fax: 81/3-423-814-201

e-mail: hosomi@cc.tuat.ac.jp

Stephen C. James (Co-Director)

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

26 Martin Luther King Dr.

Cincinnati, OH 45268 United States

tel: 513-569-7877

fax: 513-569-7680

e-mail: james.steve@epa.gov

Keštutis Kadunas (c.r.)

Hydrogeological Division, Geological Survey

Konarskio 35 2600 Vilnius

Lithuania

tel 370/2-236-272

fax: 370/2-336-156

e-mail: kestutis.kadunas@lgt.lt

Harald Kasamas (c.r.)

Bundesministerium für Landwirtschaft und

Forstwirtschaft, Umwelt und Wasserwirtschaft (BMLFUW)

Abteilung VI/3 - Abfallwirtschaft und

Altlastenmanagement

Stubenbastei 5

A-1010 Wien, Österreich

Austria

tel: +43-1-51522-3449

email: harald.kasamas@bmu.gv.at

Theresa Kearney (c.r.)

**Environment Agency** 

National Groundwater and Contaminated Land

Centre

Olton Court 10 Warwick Road, Olton

Solihul, West Midlands B92 7HX

United Kingdom

tel: +44/121---711-2324

fax: +44/121--711-5925

e-mail: theresa.kearney@environment-

agency.gov.uk

**Amy Keith** 

NASA, Marshall Space Flight Center

Building 4200, Room 436

MSFC, Alabama 35812

United States of America

tel: 256-544-7434 fax: 256-544-8259

e-mail: amy.keith@msfc.nasa.gov

Lisa Keller (c.r.)

Contaminated Sites Division

**Environmental Technologies** 

Advancement Directorate

**Environment Canada** 

351 St. Joseph Blvd, 19th floor

Hull, Quebec K1A 0H3

Canada

tel: (819) 953-9370

fax: (819) 953-0509

e-mail: Lisa.Keller@ec.gc.ca

Eric N. Koglin

U.S. EPA

NERL, ESD-LV

P.O. Box 93478

Las Vegas, Nevada 89193-3478

**United States** 

tel: 702-798-2432

fax: 702-798-2107

e-mail: koglin.eric@epa.gov

Walter W. Kovalick, Jr. (Co-Director)

Technology Innovation Office

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

1200 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. (5102G)

Washington, DC 20460

**United States** 

tel: 703-603-9910

fax: 703-603-9135

e-mail: kovalick.walter@epa.gov

Jan Krohovsky (c.r.)

Ministry of the Environment

Department of Environmental Damages

Vrsovická 65

100 10 Prague

Czech Republic

tel: +420/2-6712-2729

fax: +420/2-6731-0305

e-mail: krhov@env.cz

Hans-Peter Koschitzky

University of Stuttgart Institut für Wasserbau Pfaffenwaldring 61

D-70550 Stuttgart (Vaihingen)

Germany

tel: +49/711-685-47-17-14 fax: +49/711-685-70-20

e-mail: koschi@iws.uni-stuttgart.de

John Liskowitz

ARS Technologies Inc. 114 North Ward cStreet New Brunswick, New Jersey 08901

United States tel: +732-296-6620 fax: +732-296-6625

e-mail: JJL@arstechnologies.com

Claudio Mariotti

Aquater S.p.A, ENI Group Via Miralbello 43 61047 San Lorenzo in Campo Italy

tel: 39/0721-731-511 fax: 39/0721-731-376

e-mail: claudio.mariotti@aquater.eni.it

**Peter Merkel** 

**SAFIRA** 

Lehrstuhl für Angewandte Geologie

Sigwartstr. 10 D-72076 Tübingen

Germany

tel: +49/7071-297-5041 fax: +49/7071-5059

e-mail: peter.merkel@uni-tuegingen.de

Jacqueline Miller (c.r.)

Brussels University Avenue Jeanne 44 1050 Brussels Belgium

tel: 32/2-650-3183 fax: 32/2-650-3189

e-mail: jmiller@ulb.ac.be

Christian Militon (c.r.)

**Environmental Impact and Contaminated Sites** 

Department

French Agency for Environment and Energy

Management (ADEME)
2. square La Fayette

**BP 406** 

49004 ANGERS cedex 01 FRANCE

tel: (33)-2-41-91-40-51 fax: (33)-2-41-91-40-03

e-mail: christian.militon@ademe.fr

Francesca Quercia (c.r.)

ANPA - Agenzia Nazionale per la Protezione

dell'Ambiente Via V. Brancati 48 I - 00144 Rome

Italy

tel. 39/6-5007-2510

fax 39/6-5007-2531

e-mail quercia@anpa.it

**Charles Reeter** 

U.S. Navy, NAVFAC

Engineering Services Center

1100 23<sup>rd</sup>. Avenue, Code 414

Port Huename, California 93043

United States

tel: +805-982-4991 fax: +805-982-4304

e-mail: reetercv@nfesc.navv.mil

Steven A. Rock

**Environmental Engineer** 

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

National Risk Management Research Laboratory

26 W. Martin Luther King Dr.

Cincinnati, Ohio 45268

United States

tel: 513-569-7149 fax: 513-569-7879

e-mail: rock.steven@epa.gov

Phillippe Scauflaire

**SPAOUE** 

Boulevard d'Avroy, 38

4000 Liege Belgium

tel: +32/4-220-9411

fax: +32/4-221-4043

e-mail: p.scauflaire@spaque.be

Ari Seppänen (c.r.)

Ministry of Environment

P.O. Box 399 00121 Helsinki

Finland

tel: 358/9-199-197-15 fax: 358/9-199-196-30

e-mail: Ari.Seppanen@vyh.fi

Robert Siegrist

Colorado School of Mines

**Environmental Science and Engineering** 

Division

112 Coolbaugh Hall

Golden, Colorado 80401-1887

United States

tel: 303-273-3490 fax: 303-273-3413

e-mail: rsiegris@mines.edu

Kai Steffens

PROBIOTEC GmbH

Schillingsstraße 333

D 52355 Düren-Gürzenich

Germany

tel: 49/2421-69090

fax: 49/2421-690961

e-mail: steffans@probiotec.de

**Ilgonis Strauss** 

Ministry of Environmental Protection and

Regional Development of the Republic of Latvia

Peldu iela 25

Riga, LV-1494

Latvia

tel: +371 7026 405

fax: +371 7026 558

e-mail: strauss@varam.gov.lv

Jan Svoma

Aquatest a.s.

Geologicka 4

152 00 Prague 5

Czech Republic

tel: 420/2-581-83-80

fax: 420/2-581-77-58

e-mail: aquatest@aquatest.cz

**Georg Teutsch** 

University of Tübingen

Sigwartstraße 10

72076 Tübingen

Germany

tel: 49/707-1297-6468

fax: 49 707-150-59

e-mail: georg.teutsch@uni-tuebigen.de

Kahraman Ünlü (c.r.)

Department of Environmental Engineering

Middle East Technical University

Inönü Bulvari

06531 Ankara

Turkey

tel: 90/312-210-5869

fax: 90/312-210-1260

e-mail: kunlu@metu.edu.tr

Jurjen K. van Deen

GeoDelft

**P.O.Box 69** 

NL 2600 AB Delft

Netherlands

tel: 31/15-2693-730

fax: 31/15-2610-821

e-mail: j.k.vandeen@geodelft.nl

H. Johan Van Veen (c.r.)

TNO/MEP

P.O. Box 342

7800 AH Apeldoorn

The Netherlands

tel: 31/555-49-3922

fax: 31/555-49-3231

e-mail: h.j..vanveen@mep.tno.nl

Joop Vegter

The Technical Committee on Soil Protection

(TCB)

Postbus 30947

2500 GX The Hague

The Netherlands

tel: 31/70-339-30-34

tel. 31/10-339-30-3-

fax: 31/70-339-13-42

é-mail: tcb@euronet.nl

John Vijgen

Consultant

Elmevej 14

DK-2840 Holte

Denmark

tel: 45 /45 41 03 21

fax: 45 /45 41 09 04

e-mail: john.yijgen@get2net.dk

### Gary Wealthall

Environment and Hazards Directorate British Geological Survey Keyworth NG12 5GGNottingham United Kingdom

tel: 44/115-936-3541 fax: 44/115-936-3261

e-mail: g.wealthall@bgs.ac.uk

# Anthimos Xenidis (c.r.)

National Technical University Athens 52 Themidos Street 15124 Athens Greece

tel: 30/1-772-2043 fax: 30/1-772-2168

e-mail: axen@central.ntua.gr

# Mehmet Ali Yukselen

Marmara University Environmental Engineering Department Goztepe 81040 Istanbul Turkey

tel: 90/216-348-1369 fax: 90/216-348 -0293

e-mail: yukelsen@mutek.org.tr

